FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Keith Kelly, Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2017-001009

Caitlyn Langham,

Appellant,

vs.

Officer Russell Porter, City of Spartanburg
Police Department, and Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Anderson, South Carolina
May 4, 2018


Donald L. Smith (SC Bar#6699)
122 N. Main Street
Anderson, SC 29621
Telephone: (864) 642-9284
Facsimile: (864) 642-9285
attorneydonaldsmith@gmail.com
Attorney for Appellant

RECEIVED
MAY 07 2018
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF RESPONDENTS.**
- II. **WHETHER THE APPELLANT'S CAUSES OF ACTION WERE PRECLUDED BY STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.**
- III. **WHETHER RESPONDENT CITY OF SPARTANBURG POLICE DEPARTMENT IS ENTITLED TO QUALIFIED IMMUNITY.**
- IV. **WHETHER RESPONDENTS ARE LIABLE FOR ASSAULT AND BATTERY, MALICIOUS PROSECUTION, AND VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. §1983.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 24, 2013, Appellant was shopping for some groceries at Dorman Center WAL-MART in Spartanburg, when she decided to get some personal items. She set all the merchandise in her cart and went to the checkout line. Realizing that she did not bring enough money for all the items she picked, she placed the personal items on the rack beside the cashier where the lip gloss and chips were situated.

As Appellant was reaching the cashier, Respondent Officer Russel Porter (hereinafter Porter) approached her from behind and grabbed her left arm. Since she had a birth control implant, she told Respondent Porter that he was hurting her. Respondent Porter, taking her action as a form of resistance, threw her on the ground, handcuffed her and took her into the office. While in the office, Appellant was subjected to a physical search. It was only then that he explained to her that she was being accused of shoplifting, and presented to her the personal items (mascara, powder) which she had placed on the rack only moments before. The police, whom Respondent WAL-MART Stores, Inc. (hereinafter WAL-MART) called to respond to the incident, arrived and immediately took Appellant in Spartanburg County Jail, where she was

booked and arraigned. She was eventually released. The shoplifting charges went to trial, where Appellant was found not guilty.

Appellant was accused, assaulted, forcefully arrested and detained against her will, and without warrant, by Respondent Porter. As a result of these wrongful acts, Appellant sustained physical injuries and mental. By reason of Respondent Porter's grossly negligent conduct, Appellant was deprived of her. Despite having no probable cause, Respondents pursued a criminal case against Appellant, which resulted in her acquittal by the Spartanburg Municipal Court on September 17, 2014.

On April 8, 2016, Appellant filed a Complaint against Respondents Porter, the City of Spartanburg (hereinafter City), the Spartanburg Police Department (hereinafter Police) and WAL-MART, alleging defamation, false arrest, false imprisonment, assault and battery, malicious prosecution and violation of 42 U.S.C. §1983. (R. 1).

On May 16, 2016, Respondent WAL-MART filed its Answer and moved to dismiss alleging that the Complaint is barred by statute of limitations and lack of cause of action. (R., p. 19 and 37). Appellant opposed Respondent WAL-MART's motion on August 24, 2016. (R., p. 60).

Respondents Porter, City and Police also filed their Answer on May 16, 2016. (R.,p 43).

On November 15, 2016, the trial court granted Respondent WAL-MART's Partial Motion to Dismiss on the causes of action for defamation, false imprisonment, and violation of § 1983, leaving the cause of action for assault and battery pending at the trial court.

On November 21, 2016, Appellant moved to reconsider the Order, dated November 15, 2016, which the court denied in its Order, dated March 22, 2017.

On December 8, 2016, Respondents Porter, City and Police moved for summary judgment (R. 81, 84), which Appellant opposed on February 28, 2017. (R, p. 108). The trial court granted summary judgment to Respondents, in its Order, dated March 23, 2017. (R., p. 129).

On April 18, 2017, Appellant appealed the Orders, dated March 22, 2017 and March 23, 2017. (R., p. 174).

On May 15, 2017, Respondent WAL-MART moved for Summary Judgment on the causes of action for assault and battery. (R., p. 138). The court granted summary judgment in favor of Respondent WAL-MART on July 14, 2017. (R., p. 152).

Appellant moved to reconsider the July 14, 2017 Order, (R. 159), which the Court denied in its Order, dated October 3, 2017. (R., p. 170). Appellant appealed the aforementioned Orders, which were the subject matter of Appellate Case No. 2017-002160.

Appellant moved to consolidate the two Appellate Cases on October 24, 2017, which this Honorable Court granted in its Order, dated November 27, 2017. (R., p. 181).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, an appellate court applies the same standard used by the trial court. *Lanham v. Blue Cross and Blue Shield of S.C., Inc.*, 349 S.C. 356, 361, 563 S.E.2d 331, 333 (2002); *David v. McLeod Regional Medical Center*, 367 S.C. 242, 247, 626 S.E.2d 1 2 (2006). Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56 (c), SCRPC. The appellate court must view the facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving party below. *Id.* If the slightest doubt exists as to whether there are genuine issues

of material fact or whether the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, the summary judgment must be reversed.

Furthermore, determining the proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law, and this Court reviews questions of law de novo. *Catawba Indian Tribe v. State*, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007).

ARGUMENTS

I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF RESPONDENTS.

A. No Probable or Reasonable Cause Exists for the Warrantless Arrest and the Illegal Search and Seizure of Appellant

Respondents claimed that Appellant's causes of action are barred by the existence of probable cause.

South Carolina passed the Merchant's Defense Statute or S.C. Code Ann. §16-13-140, which became the standard of probable cause in shoplifting cases. In fact, Respondent WAL-MART relied on the same provision as its defense. The provision states:

"In any action brought by reason of having been delayed by a merchant or merchant's employee or agent on or near the premises of a mercantile establishment for the purpose of investigation concerning the ownership of any merchandise, it shall be a defense to such if: (1) the person was delayed in a reasonable manner for a reasonable time to permit such investigation, and (2) reasonable cause existed to believe that the person delayed had committed the crime of shoplifting. "

Reasonable cause in §16-13-140 is akin or in fact the same as probable cause.

Probable cause for a warrantless arrest exists when the circumstances within the arresting officer's knowledge are sufficient to lead a reasonable person to believe that a crime had been committed by the person being arrested. *Jones v. City of Columbia*, 301 S.C. 62, 65, 389 S.E.2d.662, 663 (1990). In determining probable cause, only those facts and circumstances that

were or should have been known to the Respondent at the time the Appellant was stopped should be considered.

Probable cause involves the existence of such facts or circumstances as would excite the belief of a reasonable mind—acting on facts known to him—that the person arrested had committed the crime of shoplifting. To establish probable cause, we must look at Respondent WAL-MART's existing policy in addressing shoplifting incidents.

Ronnee Miller, an Assistant Manager at Respondent WAL-MART on the day of the alleged incident, discussed the company policy on shoplifting. In her deposition, Ronnee explained that Respondent WAL-MART has an existing procedure to abide by in cases of shoplifting incident namely: (1) selection, (2) concealment, (3) continued possession, and (4) last point of entry.

Q: Can you tell me what the procedure for WAL-MART is when you have an alleged shoplifting?

A: As an AP associate, you have to have the--the four elements. Once you get all four elements and they pass the last point of sale, which is them going out the door, you then approach and take them into the office. From there you collect the items, obtain the receipt. And then from there, if police need to be contacted, we you get them involved. If not, we take our information, key it in the system and go from there.

Q: All right. Well, I'm not going to lie to you a bit. I didn't get a single thing of that, so if we could go slowly for me.

A: Okay.

Q: The four elements, what are the four elements?

A: You have to get selection.

Q: Selection meaning?

A: Them picking up the items.

Q: Yes, ma'am.

A: Concealing it.

Q: And that means that they've concealed it in some way?

A: Uh-huh.

Q: And what does "concealed" mean to you?

A: To me would be placing it in your pocket, placing it in your purse, putting the item on. If it's a hat, taking the tag off and placing the item on head, on your head. That would be concealing it.

Q: *And the third?*
A: *Continued possession.*
Q: *And that would mean what specifically?*
A: *As you're watching them, they -- like if they're shopping now, after they already got the item, do they still have it on them; that you're just verifying that they didn't take it out of their purse or put the item down.*
Q: *So it's maintaining it in the area that it's been concealed in?*
A: *Uh-huh.*
Q: *Is that "yes"?*
A: *Yes, sir.*
Q: *Thank you. And the fourth element?*
A: *Last point of sale*
Q: *All right. And that means what?*

A: *Walking out the front door, passing all registers.*
Q: *So once that occurs --*
A: *Uh-huh.*
Q: *-- is that when you approach the individual?*
A: *Yes, sir.*
Q: *And passing all registers, meaning, the last opportunity to pay for it?*
A: *Yes, sir.*
Q: *Do you let them get out of the building, or is it just past the register?*
A: *Past the register.*
Q: *Take me from that, that point, please.*
A: *From that point, we then do the approach, identify ourselves. I'll ask them to come into the -- the substation."*

(R., p. 196-198).

Miller testified she cannot recall having seen the Appellant select or pick out an item, conceal, nor carry it out of the store nor pass the check-out counter or cashier. (Miller Dep., 38: 22-25; 39: 1-6, *Id.*). It should be noted that Miller had the wealth of camera angles, and the related video recordings, at her disposal. Miller testified that there were fifty (50) cameras within the store.

Respondent Porter did not personally observe Appellant approach any merchandise, select nor conceal the same. In fact, he testified in a prior criminal case that he accosted

Appellant upon the prodding of a WAL-MART employee, who allegedly saw her carrying personal items suspiciously. (Russell Porter Trial Tr., 19:11-25; 20:1-8). Respondent Porter did not personally witness Appellant intentionally attempt to leave the building without paying for the items, as in fact he arrested her while she was in line to pay for the items she had chosen. The following responses by Respondent Porter are revealing:

Q: Well, where did you—where did you see her take something?

*A: **I didn't see her take anything. The things were in her bag. I don't have to see her take anything?***

Q: You—you go grab people and start going through their purse with—

A: No. As soon as I walked up to her I looked into her bag, and the items were in her bag.

Q: And you knew that was stolen because why?

A: Because she immediately tried to—tried to leave. She tried to turn and walk away from me.” (Emphasis supplied)

(Porter, Trial Testimony. 14: 1-9, September 17, 2014)

Q: The bottom line is you did not see her put anything in that purse, did you?

*A: **I don't have to see her put it in. That's not—that's not a part of the statute I have to see her put it in. She needs (ph) possession of it. I don't have to see her put it in.***

*Q: **She hadn't gotten through the line, had she?***

*A: **No, she had not.***

*Q: **Okay. So, you're essentially assuming that she wasn't going to pay for something?***

*A: **By her actions she did not intend to pay, and she didn't have the money. She didn't have the \$74.16 in her purse when we checked her.***

*Q: **And that's why she took—she took stuff from her cart and put it to the side—“ (Emphasis supplied)***

(Porter Trial Testimony. 15: 17-25; 16:1-6).

Q: So we don't—we don't have any video?

A: No.

Q: We don't have the alleged witnesses?

A: No witnesses.

Q: Well, people—

A: (Inaudible) witness?

Q: --that actually saw what happened. Right? That's how you learned of it. Right?

A: Saw?

- Q: I mean you don't just go up to people and attack them and say, You stole this. Right?*
- A: No, huh-uh.*
- Q: Okay. Well, there were people that gave you that hint. Right?*
- A: Right.*
- Q: Where are they?*
- A: I don't know.*
- Q: Do you have anybody here from WAL-MART to say that you can't – the video was not good, you couldn't see it, or you just didn't get it? Right?*
- A: There was no video, sir. I went in the LP office, asked the LP guy. Is this area covered? No this area is not covered. There's nothing— (Emphasis supplied).*

(Porter Trial Testimony, 19:11-25; 20: 1-8).

The unlawful arrest and subsequent detention by Appellant was based on a suspicion of an alleged eyewitness, a Kelyn Eber, who was conveniently missing or was no longer in its employ. Respondent WAL-MART had a chance to substantiate its shoplifting charges by submitting the surveillance video on the day of the incident, but it has consistently denied its existence. This is in contradiction to Ronnee's testimony that the store has fifty (50) cameras inside. (Ronnee Miller Depo., 16: 7-12). Ms. Langham allegedly took the items out of her purse in the checkout line. The thought that there was no surveillance near the register is patently absurd.

Respondent WAL-MART had an obligation to preserve the video since they had arrested the Appellant. It did not present a single video because it would have negated the claim of shoplifting. More importantly, the video of the register would have shown Respondent Porter's violent manhandling of Appellant.

Respondent Porter, as a member of Respondent Police, was covered by S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-30. This provision empowers an officer to arrest a person without a warrant for any crime committed in his view, which the courts have extended to include crimes freshly committed. State v. Martin, 268 S.E.2d 105 (1980), State v. Clark, 287 S.E.2d 143 (1981). In this case,

Respondent Porter admittedly did not personally witness Appellant select, conceal, continuously possess or pass the last point of entry. As such, Porter illegally arrested Appellant.

“The party seeking summary judgment has the burden of clearly establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact.” McNair v. Rainsford, 330 S.C. 332, 342, 499 S.E.2d 488, 493 (Ct. App. 1998) (citing Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991); Standard Fire Ins. Co. v. Marine Contracting & Towing Co., 301 S.C. 418, 392 S.E.2d 460 (1990)). “In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” Lanham v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of South Carolina, Inc., 349 S.C. 356, 361-62, 563 S.E.2d 331, 333 (2002) (citing Summer v. Carpenter, 328 S.C. 36, 492 S.E.2d 55 (1997)); Strother v. Lexington County Recreation Commission, 332 S.C. 54, 61, 504 S.E.2d 117, 121 (1998).

In determining probable cause, only those facts and circumstances that were or should have been known to the Respondent at the time the Appellant was stopped should be considered. The determination of whether probable cause exists is ordinarily a jury question; however, it may be decided as a matter of law, when the evidence yields but one conclusion. Law v. S.C. Department of Corrections, 368 S.C. at 441, 629 S.E.2d at 651(2006), as cited in Lynch v. Toys ‘R Us-Delaware, 375 S.C. 604 (2007). In this case, the evidence yields further investigation, especially considering Respondent Officer Russell’s false statement in the Incident Report, claiming to have personally seen Appellant hide some items in her bag. This was belied by his own words in his trial testimony. In fact, a directed verdict would have been apropos given the fact that Respondent Porter did not meet one element out of the four enumerated by Respondent WAL-MART.

Jurisprudence has long established that even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied. Carolina Alliance for Fair Employment v. South Carolina Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation, et al., 337 S.C. 476, 523 S.E.2d 795 (1999). Had this case reached the jury, a different conclusion may have been reached as to the existence of probable cause for Appellant's unlawful arrest, assault and battery and subsequent illegal detention.

B. The Reasonableness of Manner by Which Appellant Was Delayed by Respondent Porter and Respondent WAL-MART Is An Issue Of Material Fact.

Respondent WAL-MART alleged that it has "acted reasonably and in good faith in in the exercise of their legal rights, and at no time breached any duty. In essence, Respondent WAL-MART raised the doctrine of Merchant's Defense under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-140.

Under the Merchant's Defense, while Respondent WAL-MART had the right to stop and delay their customers, such should be done in a reasonable manner and within a reasonable time. Reasonable manner and within reasonable time should be determined by company policies on shoplifting.

It was Appellant's contention that there was nothing reasonable in the manner by which Respondent Officer Porter, delayed and subsequently arrested Appellant, forcefully slammed her on the floor, and illegally searched her purse.

Respondent Porter violated Respondent WAL-MART's policy on shoplifting. Without observing or witnessing Appellant select an item, conceal or continuously carry the same without paying for it, and walk past the cashier or exit the store, Porter approached her from behind, while she was queueing at the cashier, and arrested her. Respondent Porter had no reason to believe that Appellant had intent to conceal and carry the alleged stolen items since he did not personally see her hide or place any item in her purse. Neither did he have any reason to believe

that Appellant had no intention of paying for the merchandise since Appellant was still within Respondent WAL-MART's premises, and was in the line to pay, and has in fact paid, for the items she had on her cart. (Porter, Trial Testimony, 8:2-25; Langham Deposition, 19-20; 21:2-25). In short, Respondent Porter stopped the Appellant before she had a chance to pass the check-out counter or the cashier that would show intent to take the items without paying for them.

The manner by which Respondent Porter arrested, detained and subsequently searched Appellant was unlawful and illegal. Respondent Porter applied excessive force by slamming Appellant on the floor, which resulted in bruises and injuries on her person. Appellant was never informed of her alleged violation until she was inside the office and was searched for other items. Nothing was found on her person, but Respondent Porter presented her with lipstick, powder and other personal items, that she allegedly shoplifted.

Furthermore, there was a genuine issue of material fact as to the appropriateness of Respondent Porter's action in arresting, detaining, and manhandling Appellant. In her deposition, Ronnee stated that police officers are hired by Respondent WAL-MART to provide security.

“Q: What procedures are law enforcement agents to follow when they're looking for you?”

Ms. Bagley: Object to the form.

A: They—I mean, they—they normally do their job as a police officer and whatever that entails. And then they're —like I said, they're just there for security purposes and just crowd control when hired in.

Q: All right. And so correct me if I'm wrong, that the purpose of the law enforcement agent is not to catch shoplifters; it is to maintain calm within the store?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: So to keep people from stabbing each other for an Xbox?

A: Yes sir.”

(Ronnee Miller Dep., 21:23-25; 23:1-15).

The issue of the appropriateness of action and reasonableness of force employed by Respondent Porter goes into the interpretation of the law, specifically S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-140. Whether Appellant was delayed in a reasonable manner and for a reasonable time to permit investigation, under the circumstances of this case, was an issue for the jury; so was the question of whether there was reasonable cause to believe that Appellant committed the crime of shoplifting. Mains v. K Mart Corp., 375 SE2d 311, (SC: Court of Appeals, 1988).

Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law. Carolina Alliance for Fair Employment v. South Carolina Dep't of Labor, Licensing and Regulation, et al., 337 S.C. 476, 523 S.E.2d 795.

Appellant asserts that the existence of probable cause and reasonable delay should have been submitted to the jury.

II. APPELLANT'S CAUSES OF ACTION ARE NOT BARRED BY STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

A. The Causes of Action For Violation Of §1983, Assault And Battery And Malicious Prosecution Are Not Barred By Statute Of Limitations

On Violation of §1983

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