THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
R. Keith Kelly, Judge

---

MAY 24 2018

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2017-001009

---

Caitlyn Langham.....Appellant,

v.

Officer Russell Porter, City of Spartanburg Police Department,  
and Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.....Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT WAL-MART STORES, INC.**

---

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
R. Keith Kelly, Judge

---

Case No. 2017-001009

---

Caitlyn Langham.....Appellant,

v.

Officer Russell Porter, City of Spartanburg Police Department,

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

the nonmoving party.’” *Id.* at 650-51 (quoting *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 329-30, 673 S.E.2d 801, 802 (2009)).

## ARGUMENT<sup>4</sup>

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED LANGHAM'S CAUSE OF ACTION FOR FALSE IMPRISONMENT PURSUANT TO RULE 12(b)(6) OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.**

Langham avers that the trial court erred in granting summary judgment to Walmart because she presented genuine issues of material fact as to the affirmative defense to false imprisonment set forth in section 16-13-140 of the South Carolina Code of Laws,<sup>5</sup> also known as the Merchant's Defense.<sup>6</sup> App. Br. pp. 4-12. However, the trial court dismissed Langham's cause of action for false imprisonment pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, based upon her failure to file the claim within the applicable statute of limitations. Therefore, Langham's argument is erroneous, and the trial court properly dismissed this cause of action as alleged against Walmart. Accordingly, this Honorable Court should affirm the trial court.

---

<sup>4</sup> On March 8, 2018, this Court granted Walmart's Motion to Strike Certain Materials from Langham's Designation of Matter pursuant to Rules 209 and 210(c), SCACR, based upon Langham's failure to present certain designated materials to the trial court and consequently ruled that those certain materials shall not be included in the record on appeal. Thus, Walmart objects to Plaintiff's citations to those stricken materials to the extent Plaintiff fails to amend her Brief to remove same.

<sup>5</sup> "Section 16-13-140 provides a defense to [false imprisonment] if the merchant has probable cause to believe a person is taking his property and acts reasonably in his efforts to investigate the matter." *Caldwell v. K-Mart Corp.*, 306 S.C. 27, 30, 410 S.E.2d 21, 23 (Ct. App. 1991).

<sup>6</sup> Langham does not cite a specific trial court Order in her arguments set forth in Section I of her Brief from which she appeals; however, as the Merchant's Defense is an affirmative defense to false imprisonment, Walmart addresses the argument as one appealing the trial court's Order dated November 15, 2016, in which it dismissed Langham's cause of action for false imprisonment and defamation as alleged against Walmart. To that end, Walmart notes that the trial court dismissed Langham's cause of action for false imprisonment and defamation based upon Rule 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and not, as Langham argues, based upon Rule 56 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. (R. pp. 70-74). Further, Langham does not appeal the trial court's dismissal of her cause of action of defamation against Walmart; thus, the trial court's dismissal of that cause of action as alleged against Walmart is the law of the case. *See First Union Nat'l Bank of S.C. v. Soden*, 333 S.C. 554, 566, 511 S.E.2d 372, 378 (Ct. App. 1998) (holding an "unchallenged ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case and requires affirmance").

As a threshold matter, Langham did not raise the issue of the Merchant's Defense to the trial court in response to Walmart's Motion to Dismiss her claims of false imprisonment and defamation.<sup>7</sup> (R. pp. 61-68; 70-74). Thus, Langham failed to preserve this argument for appellate review. *See Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) ("It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.").

The trial court dismissed Langham's cause of action for false imprisonment against Walmart based upon Langham's failure to file the same within two (2) years from the date of the alleged incident as required by the statute of limitations set forth in section 15-3-550 of the South Carolina Code. Specifically, the trial court ruled:

Plaintiff's claim[] for false imprisonment . . . [is] governed by section § 15-3-550 of the South Carolina Code, which required Plaintiff to file [that cause] of action within two (2) years of the date of the alleged incident. Plaintiff's Complaint alleges the incident occurred on December 24, 2013. Thus, the applicable two-year statute of limitations expired on December 24, 2015. As Plaintiff did not file her Complaint until April 8, 2016, approximately three and one-half (3.5) months after the controlling deadline passed, her [cause] of action for false imprisonment . . . do[es] not state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, [is] untimely, and [is] hereby dismissed with prejudice pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF.

(R. p. 71). Because Langham does not appeal the trial court's ruling as to her failure to file the cause of action of false imprisonment within the applicable statute of limitations, the ruling is the law of the case. *See First Union Nat'l Bank of S.C. v. Soden*, 333 S.C. 554, 566, 511 S.E.2d 372, 378 (Ct. App. 1998) (holding an "unchallenged ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case and requires affirmance"). Accordingly, this Court must affirm the trial court's Order dismissing

---

<sup>7</sup> Indeed, Ronnee Miller's deposition, of which Langham uses an excerpt in support of her argument, was not taken until January 18, 2017, approximately two (2) months after the trial court dismissed Langham's cause of action for false imprisonment.

Langham's cause of action for false imprisonment as alleged against Walmart.<sup>8</sup> Further, to the extent that Langham appealed the trial court's dismissal based upon the statute of limitations as set forth in its Nov. 15, 2016 Order, which she did not, this Honorable Court must nevertheless affirm the trial court's dismissal as Langham indisputably failed to file her claim for false imprisonment within the applicable two (2) year statute of limitation.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED LANGHAM'S CAUSES OF ACTION FOR ASSAULT AND BATTERY, MALICIOUS PROSECUTION, AND VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1983 AS ALLEGED AGAINST WALMART.<sup>9</sup>**

- a. The trial court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Walmart as to Langham's causes of action for assault and battery and malicious prosecution as Langham failed to present any genuine issue of material fact.**

---

<sup>8</sup> Langham briefly references assault and battery and malicious prosecution in Section I, although the trial court did not rule upon those causes of action in its Order dated November 15, 2016, but, rather, ruled on those causes of action in a subsequent hearing and Order. Walmart addresses malicious prosecution in a following section (Section IV). Notwithstanding, to the extent Langham attempts to assert arguments regarding either assault and battery or malicious prosecution in Section I, she does so in conclusory fashion and without any supporting authority. Thus, she abandons these issues. See *First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 444 S.E.2d 513 (1994) (stating Appellant was deemed to have abandoned issue for which he failed to provide any argument or supporting authority); *R & G Constr., Inc. v. Lowcountry Reg'l Transp. Auth.*, 343 S.C. 424, 540 S.E.2d 113 (Ct. App. 2000) (ruling that an issue is deemed abandoned if argument in appellate brief is only conclusory).

<sup>9</sup> In Section II of her Brief, Langham argues the trial court erred in finding her causes of action for violation of § 1983, assault and battery, and malicious prosecution were barred by the statute of limitations. However, Walmart did not move for summary judgment on the aforementioned causes of action based upon the statute of limitations. Thus, to the extent that Langham fails to properly address the dismissal of these causes of action as against Walmart in another section of her Brief, the trial court's dismissal of those causes of action as alleged against Walmart is the law of the case. See *First Union Nat'l Bank of S.C. v. Soden*, 333 S.C. 554, 566, 511 S.E.2d 372, 378 (Ct. App. 1998) (holding an "unchallenged ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case and requires affirmance"). Additionally, Langham references the applicability of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act. Walmart did not raise the South Carolina Tort Claims Act as a defense; thus, this argument is erroneous to the extent it is asserted against Walmart.

Langham argues the trial court erred in granting summary judgment to Walmart as to her causes of action for assault and battery and malicious prosecution. *See* App. Br. pp. 15-18.<sup>10</sup> However, Langham fails to present any evidence that Walmart lacked probable cause and, further, fails to present any evidence of malice on behalf of Walmart. Thus, this Honorable Court must affirm the trial court's ruling as set forth more fully below.

Initially, to the extent Langham references assault and battery in Section IV of her Brief, she fails to provide any supporting authority for her position and makes only conclusory statements as the cause of action for assault and battery. Thus, Langham abandoned the issue and this Honorable Court need not address it.<sup>11</sup> *See First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994) (stating Appellant was deemed to have abandoned issue for which he failed to provide any argument or supporting authority); *R & G Constr., Inc. v. Lowcountry Reg'l Transp. Auth.*, 343 S.C. 424, 437, 540 S.E.2d 113, 120 (Ct. App. 2000) (ruling that an issue is deemed abandoned if argument in appellate brief is only conclusory).

As to malicious prosecution, in order to maintain such a claim, "a plaintiff must establish: (1) the institution or continuation of original judicial proceedings; (2) by or at the instance of the defendant; (3) termination of such proceedings in plaintiff's favor; (4) malice in instituting such proceedings; (5) lack of probable cause; and (6) resulting injury or damage."

---

<sup>10</sup> In Section III of her Brief, Langham argues the City of Spartanburg Police Department is not entitled to qualified immunity. *See* App. Br. pp. 14-15. As the arguments in Section III do not pertain to Walmart, Walmart does not address the arguments' merit or lack thereof.

<sup>11</sup> To the extent that this Court finds Langham did not abandon the issue of assault and battery, the trial court did not err in finding that Langham could not maintain a claim of assault and battery, through the theory of *respondeat superior*, as probable cause existed as a matter of law for Defendant Porter to detain, arrest, and try Langham. A lawful arrest based upon probable cause cannot serve as the basis for a civil claim of assault and battery; thus, Langham presents no genuine issue of material fact as to said claim. *See Roberts v. City of Forest Acres*, 902 F. Supp. 662, 671 (D.S.C. 1995) (finding that a person who uses reasonable force in effectuating a lawful arrest is not liable for assault or battery). Accordingly, this Court must affirm the trial court's ruling.

*Law v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 368 S.C. 424, 435, 629 S.E.2d 642, 648 (2006) (quoting *Parrott v. Plowden Motor Co.*, 246 S.C. 318, 321, 143 S.E.2d 607, 608 (1965)). “An action for malicious prosecution fails if the plaintiff cannot prove *each* of the required elements by a preponderance of the evidence, including malice and lack of probable cause.” *Id.* (citing *Parrott*, 246 S.C. at 322, 143 S.E.2d at 609) (emphasis added).

“[A]n essential element of malicious prosecution is the institution of judicial proceedings without probable cause against the plaintiff.” *Id.* at 436, 629 S.E.2d at 649 (citing *Kinton v. Mobile Home Indus., Inc.*, 274 S.C. 179, 262 S.E.2d 727 (1980)). “The burden is on the plaintiff to show that the prosecuting person or entity lacked probable cause to pursue a criminal or civil action against him.” *Id.* (citing *Parrott*, 246 S.C. at 322, 143 S.E.2d at 609). “Probable cause means ‘the extent of such facts and circumstances as would excite the belief in a reasonable mind acting on the facts within the knowledge of the prosecutor that the person charged was guilty of a crime for which he has been charged, and only those facts and circumstances which were or should have been known to the prosecutor at the time he instituted the prosecution should be considered.’” *Id.* (quoting *Parrott*, 246 S.C. at 322, 143 S.E.2d at 609). “In determining the existence of probable cause, the facts must be ‘regarded from the point of view of the party prosecuting; *the question is not what the actual facts were, but what he honestly believed them to be.*’” *Id.* (quoting *Eaves v. Broad River Elec. Co-op, Inc.*, 277 S.C. 475, 478, 289 S.E.2d 414, 415-16 (1982)) (emphasis added). “Although the question of whether probable cause exists is ordinarily a jury question, it may be decided as a matter of law when the evidence yields but one conclusion.” *Id.* (citing *Parrott*, 246 S.C. at 323, 143 S.E.2d at 609).

“Malice is defined as ‘the deliberate intentional doing of an act without just cause or excuse.’” *Id.* at 437, 629 S.E.2d at 649 (quoting *Eaves*, 277 S.C. at 479, 289 S.E.2d at 416).

“Malice does not necessarily mean a defendant acted out of spite, revenge, or with a malignant disposition, although such an attitude certainly may indicate malice.” *Id.* “Malice also may proceed from an ill-regulated mind which is not sufficiently cautious before causing injury to another person.” *Id.* “Moreover, malice may be implied where the evidence reveals a disregard of the consequences of an injurious act, without reference to any special injury that may be inflicted on another person.” *Id.* “In an action for malicious prosecution, malice may be inferred from a lack of probable cause to institute the prosecution.” *Id.* (citing *Margolis v. Telech*, 239 S.C. 232, 238, 122 S.E.2d 417, 420 (1961)).

In the present action, the trial court ruled that probable cause existed as a matter of law for the City, via Officer Porter, to arrest, detain, and prosecute Langham. (R. pp. 129-37). It did so based on the following factors: (1) witnesses provided verbal notice to Officer Porter that Langham had suspiciously placed items in her purse; (2) Langham attempted to evade Officer Porter when she saw him; and (3) unopened Walmart merchandise was in Langham’s purse in the plain view of Officer Porter. (R. pp. 129-37; 184-188). To the extent that Langham relies upon an excerpt of Walmart Asset Protection Associate Ronnee Miller’s deposition transcript as evidence that Walmart lacked probable cause,<sup>12</sup> Miller simply testified as to certain internal procedures of Walmart that pertained to shoplifting. (R. pp. 195-98). However, Officer Porter, as a law enforcement officer with arrest authority, is not bound by Walmart’s internal procedures. Furthermore, Walmart’s internal procedures do not alter the legal definition of probable cause and, therefore, are irrelevant to the issue of whether probable cause existed as a matter of law. Officer Porter articulated a sufficient basis for probable cause under South

---

<sup>12</sup> Appellant asserts her arguments in Section I, in which she used Walmart Asset Protection Associate Ronnee Miller’s deposition transcript, among other materials, as support for the proposition that Walmart lacked probable cause. Thus, Walmart addresses those arguments and materials here.

Carolina law, on which he effectuated Langham's lawful arrest. Moreover, Langham cannot provide any other objective evidence to establish malice on behalf of Walmart. Based on the foregoing, Langham fails to present any genuine issue of material fact as to the requisite elements of lack of probable cause and malice. As both are essential elements of a claim of malicious prosecution, the trial court properly found that Langham's claim fails as a matter of law, and this Honorable Court should affirm the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of Walmart as to Langham's cause of action for malicious prosecution.

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